
Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
1 

The meeting of the Community Development Authority of the City of Onalaska was called to 1 
order at 4:04 p.m. on Monday, August 29, 2016.  It was noted that the meeting had been 2 
announced and a notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  Mark Hansen, Ann Brandau, Ron 5 
Johnson, John Lyche 6 
 7 
Also Present:  Mayor Joe Chilsen, Ald. Jim Binash, Financial Services Director/Treasurer Fred 8 
Buehler, City Engineer Jarrod Holter, Interim Land Use and Development Director Katie 9 
Aspenson 10 
 11 
Excused Absences:  Mike Gargaro, Ald. Jim Olson, Ald. Barry Blomquist 12 
 13 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from the previous meeting 14 
 15 
Motion by John, second by Ann, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as printed 16 
and on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 17 
 18 
On voice vote, motion carried. 19 
 20 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 21 
 22 
Mark called for anyone wishing to provide public input and closed that portion of the meeting. 23 
 24 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 25 
 26 
Item 4 – Update and discussion on the Building the Great River Landing Project 27 
 28 
Jarrod said he is hopeful the trailhead facility can be enclosed soon.  Jarrod said both the interior 29 
plumbing and electrical have been “roughed in.”  Wieser Brothers is waiting for specialty beams 30 
for the front of the building; however, they are not expected to arrive for another two weeks.  31 
Wieser Brothers is getting the building “roughed in” and also performing concrete and site work.  32 
Jarrod said he believes the outdoor items will be installed by September or October.  Jarrod also 33 
said he believes the parking lot will be paved this fall, and that the building should be 34 
substantially completed by December 1.  Jarrod told CDA members that archaeological costs are 35 
substantially higher than what was budgeted (slightly less than $18,000) as 24 human remains 36 
and 100 features were found at the site.  As a result, archaeological costs will be approximately 37 
$113,000.  Jarrod said $56,000 was spent to do the archaeological work on site.  Jarrod also said 38 
the location for the water and sewer lateral had been altered, and that half the parking lot still is 39 
“untouched.”  Jarrod told CDA members there was a $105,000 contingency, and he noted there 40 
has been approximately $25,000 in change orders.  Jarrod also noted that Assistant City Engineer 41 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
2 

Kevin Schubert had been on family leave for five weeks, which was during “the heart of 42 
construction.”  As a result, engineering costs for Short Elliott Hendrickson also will be over 43 
budget.  Jarrod said the project would be approximately $25,000 over what was budgeted if the 44 
project was stopped today. 45 
 46 
Mark asked Jarrod if the Native American remains are placed in a vault in a certain place on the 47 
site so that their location is known when there is a future project at the site. 48 
 49 
Jarrod said the remains typically are reinterred close to the site.  Jarrod also said if the remains 50 
are reinterred at the site a location would be chosen where they either likely would not be 51 
disturbed or they would be placed in a small, documented area.  Jarrod said, “The goal for 52 
everyone involved … is to hopefully not move [the remains] again.  We try to be very careful to 53 
find a site that is out of the way.” 54 
 55 
Mark inquired about placing the remains in a vault. 56 
 57 
Jarrod said he is uncertain, stating, “From other areas I’ve seen, it’s usually a confined area. … 58 
We will follow whatever protocol the Native Americans have.” 59 
 60 
Mark asked if the Native American tribes are assisting with the costs. 61 
 62 
Fred said no. 63 
 64 
Jarrod said at one point there were 15 individuals, including five licensed archaeologists, 65 
working at the site, which is an uncatalogued burial ground. 66 
 67 
Fred asked if this site will now be a categorized burial ground. 68 
 69 
Jarrod said no, noting there are no records of where individuals are interred.  Jarrod said, “We 70 
could have theoretically dug up the other side of the parking lot and never found anything.” 71 
 72 
Mark asked, “Does that make the property next door …?” 73 
 74 
Jarrod said, “Very difficult, in my opinion.  I could show you on a map, square-footage wise, 75 
what we found here versus how many square feet you’d have on the other side.” 76 
 77 
Mark asked, “Do we have any idea of when all the fill was put in?” 78 
 79 
Jarrod said the area from the alleyway toward the river (west) on the Braund Lumber site is 80 
relatively all fill.  Jarrod said, “We think it’s on that storage slope.  Typically you don’t want to 81 
have a dwelling unit on the slope; you want to be on the flat.  The other side, where the actual 82 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
3 

building sat, was protected because the building was built in 1880, so nothing was disturbed.  83 
That means it’s most likely still there, and the fact that it was on the flat.  And it’s on a 84 
longitudinal line, so it makes sense that you’d be on top of the slope projecting from where we’re 85 
at.” 86 
 87 
John asked if a cap-and-seal technique would be utilized. 88 
 89 
Jarrod said he believes that would be the most appropriate method. 90 
 91 
Item 5 – Review and discussion of the 2016 Community Development Authority (CDA) 92 
financials 93 
 94 
Fred noted that a copy of the balance sheet has been included in CDA members’ packets.  Fred 95 
referred to the side listing income and expenditures and said, “The income that is due the month 96 
of June of $29,000 of the revenue coming from Tourism, this will be the last year of that option.”  97 
Fred said all the contractual services, subscriptions and dues listed are through June. 98 
 99 
Motion by John, second by Ron, to accept the 2016 Community Development Authority (CDA) 100 
financials. 101 
 102 
On voice vote, motion carried. 103 
 104 
Mayor Chilsen noted there is Tourism funding that goes to the city that would be available to the 105 
CDA. 106 
 107 
Mark asked how much is available. 108 
 109 
Mayor Chilsen said $58,000. 110 
 111 
Item 6 – Review and consideration of 2017 Community Development Authority (CDA) 112 
budget 113 
 114 
Expenditures in the 2017 CDA budget are as follows: 115 
 116 

• $32,700 for Other Contractual Services ($6,500 for Attorney; $9,000 for the Planning 117 
Department; $14,700 for the City Administrator; and $2,500 for the Menards Area Plan 118 
Update) 119 

• $700 for Transcription Contractual 120 
• $150 for Office Supplies 121 
• $100 for Postage 122 
• $600 for Copy Usage & Paper ($500 for copies of CDA packets, reports and maps, and 123 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
4 

$100 for printing expenses for poster-sized documents) 124 
• $7,680 for Subscriptions & Dues ($7,500 for LADCO, and $180 for 7 Rivers Alliance) 125 
• $1,300 for Seminars, Conferences & Travel ($1,040 for WEDC trainings and 126 

conferences; $80 for UW-La Crosse Economic Indicators Event; and $180 for LADCO 127 
events) 128 

• $620 for Operating Supplies 129 
• $400 for Printing & Forms 130 
• $44,250 total for expenditures 131 

 132 
Fred noted there are no funds returning to the CDA unless the CDA makes a request to the 133 
Finance and Personnel Committee and the Common Council.  Fred said the Common Council 134 
had taken the balance under the Tourism Fund Balance and transferred it into a Special Projects 135 
Fund.  According to new State of Wisconsin laws, Tourism determines how to spend any future 136 
funds it obtains via room tax.  Fred said the funds in the Special Projects Fund have been utilized 137 
for the Omni Center ($60,000) as well as the CDA to address the proposed Badger-Coulee Lines.  138 
Fred said that each year, per City of Onalaska ordinance, the city may put aside a certain amount 139 
of money into the Special Projects Fund.  Fred said sales from room tax were anticipated to be 140 
$11.5 million; however, sales have been $1.5 million less than anticipated.  Fred explained that 141 
as a result $38,000 less is going to the La Crosse County Convention and Visitors Bureau, and 142 
$98,000 less is going to Tourism.  Fred said Tourism agreed to accept the PNI payments ($2.5 143 
million) and told CDA members, “If everything holds true based on the $10,550,000 in sales for 144 
2017, and with the PNI payments they would be making, they’ll have a $45,300 balance.”  Fred 145 
also told CDA members that Parks and Recreation Director Dan Wick had anticipated receiving 146 
$120,000 from Tourism.  However, the Room Tax Commission had reduced this amount to 147 
$105,000 due to reduced room tax revenue.  Fred said the Room Tax Commission will be giving 148 
Dan an additional $14,500 above the $105,000. 149 
 150 
John asked, “When the convention and visitor bureaus are being merged and all the money flows 151 
through them, is there a formula that says La Crosse gets …?” 152 
 153 
Mayor Chilsen said 3.3 percent goes to the LCCVB for the first two years. 154 
 155 
Fred said individuals who had sought donations from the City of Onalaska Tourism Department 156 
in the past now must go through the LCCVB. 157 
 158 
Mayor Chilsen asked who had spoken on behalf of the CDA when the preliminary budget 159 
meetings were held.  Mayor Chilsen noted the CDA must have a revenue stream. 160 
 161 
Fred said there have not been any discussions regarding a transfer. 162 
 163 
Ann asked, “Who are we asking for the funds?” 164 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
5 

 165 
Fred said, “The city.”  Fred added that the CDA no longer may obtain funding from Tourism. 166 
 167 
Mayor Chilsen said the city may obtain “a set amount” from Tourism.  Mayor Chilsen also noted 168 
that both the city and the CDA could obtain a portion under the previous formula. 169 
 170 
Ann inquired about the status of the excess funds. 171 
 172 
Fred said they are directed toward the Special Projects Fund. 173 
 174 
Ann asked if the CDA is under the Special Projects Fund. 175 
 176 
Fred said no. 177 
 178 
Ann again asked from which body the CDA is requesting funds. 179 
 180 
John said the CDA will need to ask the city, noting that the city has taken the excess funds and 181 
placed them in the Special Projects Fund. 182 
 183 
Mayor Chilsen asked Fred if the city’s department funds have met with him regarding their 184 
respective budgets. 185 
 186 
Fred said no. 187 
 188 
Jarrod noted that the CDA’s 2017 budget shows zero dollars in revenue and $44,250 in 189 
expenditures.  Jarrod said the CDA’s fund balance would decrease by $44,250 in December if 190 
the 2017 budget is approved. 191 
 192 
John said, “So we can last about two years’ worth at this rate.” 193 
 194 
Fred said, “Two-and-a-half.”  Fred also said, “The fact of having Planning … Over the years 195 
there really has been a creative way the city has done it.  The reason we were charging Planning 196 
to the CDA is because they thought that Planning was helping the CDA.  There’s a very fine line 197 
of when the CDA is helping and contributing. … There’s a very fine line between the Planning 198 
Department of $9,000 and the City Administrator at $14,700.” 199 
 200 
Mark asked who has to approve this budget. 201 
 202 
Katie said the CDA is the body to approve the budget. 203 
 204 
John suggested to Mark that the CDA table action on the budget until such time its members 205 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
6 

have had the opportunity to meet with Fred and determine how to proceed. 206 
 207 
Fred said the CDA may make a recommendation and told its members that he cannot wait 208 
another month. 209 
 210 
Katie noted there had not been a quorum available for the July 25 CDA meeting, which was 211 
cancelled, and therefore discussion of the budget was not possible at that time. 212 
 213 
Fred said, “If you’re open to the fact that you wish the city to consider your options, I think that 214 
would be a good way to put it.” 215 
 216 
John said it seems to him that the $9,000 budgeted for the Planning Department and the $14,700 217 
budgeted for the City Administrator should be removed from the CDA budget unless there is a 218 
direct correlation between their usages and the CDA.  John also suggested that the CDA go on 219 
record to ask the city to assist with funding the CDA so that it may have “a break-even budget.” 220 
 221 
Motion by John, second by Ron, to approve adopting a balanced-budget approach to the 2017 222 
CDA budget.  This would be achieved by removing the direct costs associated with the Planning 223 
Department and the City Administrator position. 224 
 225 
On voice vote, motion carried. 226 
 227 
John asked what the CDA’s next step is. 228 
 229 
Fred said the CDA does not need to do anything. 230 
 231 
Ron asked if this vote commits the city to LADCO for one more year. 232 
 233 
Katie said the city’s LADCO membership was approved as part of the budget. 234 
 235 
John said, “Like anything that’s in a budget, it’s approved.  But it doesn’t mean we have to spend 236 
it.” 237 
 238 
Item 7 – Report on July 21, 2016 Mayo Clinic Campus Visit – Medical District Zoning 239 
Project 240 
 241 
Katie said city staff, CDA members and Common Council members had attended this meeting.  242 
Attendees viewed a PowerPoint presentation by Short Elliott Hendrickson, which is the 243 
consultant on the project.  SEH did a review of what zoning ordinance language applies to the 244 
Mayo district area, and consultants also examined a master plan that Mayo is required to do 245 
every 10 years and update every five years.  Katie said attendees participated in a walking tour of 246 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
7 

the campus area as well as the subway system.  Katie noted there is a significant amount of retail 247 
present and said she believes the combination of uses was a good takeaway from the tour. Katie 248 
noted there is no actual requirement for parking anywhere and said there are “very lengthy 249 
waiting periods for people to park.”  Katie presented to CDA members proposed draft language 250 
for a Medical Campus District Ordinance and said, “We are moving forward with the project.  It 251 
was just essentially give a summary to the people who were unable to attend.  We got to see what 252 
Mayo looks like and what takeaways from Mayo in Rochester we would be interested in how 253 
that could potentially impact our Medical Campus District that would encompass any hospital 254 
regardless of any affiliation that they’re with.” 255 
 256 
John asked if this includes clinics. 257 
 258 
Katie said yes, noting that this particular district has a minimum acreage amount.  Katie said it 259 
would be possible to subscribe to the district if there are five or more acres.  Katie also noted that 260 
Mayo Clinic along Theater Road and Gundersen Health Systems off South Kinney Coulee Road 261 
would be able to rezone. 262 
 263 
John asked if someone who had a five-acre plot and 4,000 square feet of dental offices qualifies. 264 
 265 
Katie said it is possible, noting that the individual would be required to follow all the rules within 266 
the district, including creating a master plan for the area.  Katie noted this is strictly for the 267 
primary medical campus and said there are other “creative” zoning techniques that can be 268 
utilized such as a Planned Unit Development. 269 
 270 
John asked if there is a way to align the Medical Campus District with existing zoning that 271 
covers topics such as this. 272 
 273 
Katie said, “We don’t really have anything as of today because our zoning districts are more the 274 
Light Industrial, which is more geared toward Light Industrial uses.” 275 
 276 
John noted the city has Residential, Multifamily and Commercial and suggested laying out all 277 
the various zoning categories. 278 
 279 
Katie noted that each district’s rules (e.g. setback requirements, height limitations, permitted and 280 
conditional uses) are specified in the city’s Zoning Ordinance. 281 
 282 
John suggested perhaps presenting the information in a matrix form, asking why a new zoning 283 
level is being brought in if aspects already are covered. 284 
 285 
Katie said there are current aspects of the code where the city directly refers to existing code.  286 
However, there also are new allowances such as for signage.  Katie said one of the aspects of this 287 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
8 

code is examining a master plan and asking individuals to be forward-thinking.  Katie cited the 288 
example of the Mayo Clinic located along Theater Road, stating that if Mayo officials know 289 
what they want to do with the 10 acres adjacent to the clinic within the next five to 10 years and 290 
Mayo is rezoned to MCD, Mayo would have the ability to state it will have three buildings and 291 
parking lots in the area.  Mayo Clinic could then submit a site plan review and permit 292 
accordingly, one building by one building.  In comparison, if someone has a PUD amendment 293 
under the current method and he/she changes his/her mind, there would be public hearings and 294 
the process would take longer.  Katie said having a master plan and updating it every five years 295 
provides the city with the means to know what is happening, and it gives the medical campus an 296 
idea of what it wants to do and how it relates to the neighborhood area. 297 
 298 
Katie said, “The majority of our Commercial land in the city is zoned Light Industrial.  This 299 
automatically allows clinics and dental offices and professional offices on a smaller scale.  300 
That’s already happening.  We’re trying to be forward-thinking in terms of more campus feel 301 
versus individual lots doing development on their own side.” 302 
 303 
Jarrod suggested taking the most critical items such as building height, green space, lot frontage 304 
and setbacks and placing them in a simple table. 305 
 306 
Katie said she can present this information at the September 26 CDA meeting, at which time it 307 
may be discussed in greater detail.  Katie said SEH had gone through a variety of existing 308 
Medical Zoning Districts across the nation, adding that SEH attempted to choose items that 309 
appeared to be most similar to the city’s current ordinances.  Katie said staff would be able to 310 
make minor alterations if there will be slight deviation from the plan.  Katie said SEH has 311 
included questions regarding retail, architectural information and signage.  Katie noted she still is 312 
examining the MCD Ordinance with SEH and said her intention is to send it to the city’s legal 313 
counsel to ensure that staff is proceeding properly.  Katie said, “The intention of this is to allow 314 
[Mayo] and any sort of development to have as much flexibility as possible.”  Katie also said the 315 
MCD Ordinance eventually will be sent to the different healthcare systems in the city for 316 
feedback before the city begins the adoption process.  Katie asked CDA members if they want to 317 
send the MCD Ordinance to the Plan Commission for review. 318 
 319 
John told Katie yes. 320 
 321 
Katie said the CDA will be able to provide her with more feedback at its September 26 meeting, 322 
and she promised to take that feedback to the Plan Commission at its September 27 meeting.  323 
Katie said she can provide the CDA with a document that has staff, Plan Commission and legal 324 
counsel feedback at its October 24 meeting. 325 
 326 
Mark said he does not want to make the MCD Ordinance restrictive. 327 
 328 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
9 

Item 8 – Pay Estimate:  Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc. 329 
 330 
Katie noted that two pay estimates have come forward from Short Elliott Hendrickson. 331 
 332 
Motion by John, second by Ron, to approve Pay Estimate #1 ($1,016.23) and Pay Estimate #2 333 
($2,624.62) to Short Elliott Hendrickson in the total amount of $3,640.85. 334 
 335 
Fred noted there is $2,500 in the contractual in the 2016 budget and said the CDA is being asked 336 
to pay $14,500.  Fred said he believes it would be appropriate for him to place this on the 337 
Finance and Personnel Committee’s meeting agenda.  Additional funds would be transferred to 338 
the Special Projects Fund. 339 
 340 
Ann asked why the CDA is paying to have the Medical Zoning District created when it is a City 341 
of Onalaska project. 342 
 343 
Katie noted that this is a special project and said the funds were supposed to be coming from the 344 
Special Projects Fund.  Katie said, “The CDA was put in charge of all things medical related in 345 
the city.” 346 
 347 
Fred asked if the Common Council already has made a motion to approve funding from the 348 
Special Projects Fund, or if he is being asked to do that. 349 
 350 
Katie reminded Fred there was a Closed Session item a few months ago regarding this topic. 351 
 352 
Fred asked Katie if the CDA or the Common Council had discussed this item. 353 
 354 
Katie said the Common Council had approved this project in an amount not to exceed $14,500.  355 
This amount was to be taken from the Special Projects Fund.  Katie said, “The CDA is spending 356 
that money.  You’re [CDA] just in charge of this particular project.” 357 
 358 
John asked if this item is budget-neutral to the CDA. 359 
 360 
Katie said yes, noting that the CDA is in charge of this particular project. 361 
 362 
Motion restated: 363 
 364 
Motion by John, second by Ron, to approve Pay Estimate #1 ($1,016.23) and Pay Estimate #2 365 
($2,624.62) to Short Elliott Hendrickson in the total amount of $3,640.85 with the understanding 366 
that this remains a budget-neutral, pass-through entity, and the total amount under consideration 367 
at this time is $14,500. 368 
 369 
On voice vote, motion carried. 370 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, August 29, 2016 
10 

 371 
Item 9 – Closed Session: 372 
 373 
To consider a motion to convene in Closed Session under Section 19.85(1)(e) of the Wisconsin 374 
Statutes for the purpose of deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the 375 
investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or 376 
bargaining reasons require a closed session: 377 
 378 

• Discussion related to negotiation of strategies and contracts related to future development 379 
of properties east of State Road 53 in conjunction with land owned by Mayo Clinic 380 
Hospital & the City of Onalaska 381 

 382 
If any action is required in Open Session, as the result of the Closed Session, the CDA will 383 
reconvene in Open Session to take the necessary action and/or continue on with the printed 384 
agenda. 385 
 386 
Motion by John, second by Ann, to convene in Closed Session. 387 
 388 
On roll call vote:  Ann Brandau – aye, Ron Johnson – aye, John Lyche – aye, Mark Hansen – 389 
aye.  In Closed Session. 390 
 391 
Motion by John, second by Ann, to adjourn the meeting at 5:05 p.m. 392 
 393 
On roll call vote, motion carried. 394 
 395 
 396 
Recorded by: 397 
 398 
Kirk Bey 399 

Reviewed 8/31/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 


